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Contact the Office of Chief Disciplinary Counsel at 877-953-5535, the Board of Disciplinary Appeals at 512-427-1578
or txboda.org, or the State Commission on Judicial Conduct at 512-463-5533.

JUDICIAL ACTIONS

To read the entire public sanctions, go
to scjc.texas.gov.
On December 8, 2021, the State
Commission on Judicial Conduct issued
a public admonition to KRYSTAL
STAROWITZ, former municipal court
judge, Progreso, Hidalgo County.
On December 10, 2021, the State
Commission on Judicial Conduct issued
an order of suspension without pay to
LYNETTE MONTEMAYOR, associate
municipal judge, Escobares, Starr County.
DISBARMENT

On November 19, 2021, ROLAND M.
[#00786425], of Sulphur
Springs, was disbarred. An evidentiary
panel of the District 1 Grievance
Committee found that in September
2018, the complainant hired Fergurson to
represent her in a family law matter
FERGURSON JR.
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involving child custody and child support.
Fergurson was paid $2,500 for the legal
representation. During the representation,
Fergurson failed to explain legal matters to
the complainant to the extent reasonably
necessary to permit her to make informed
decisions about the representation.
Fergurson failed to explain legal matters
involving child custody and child support.
Fergurson also failed to communicate
with the complainant regarding evidence
to be presented at hearing. After the
hearing, Fergurson neglected to timely file
a motion for new trial. Fergurson failed to
file a response to the grievance.
Fergurson violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(a), and 8.04(a)(8). He was ordered
to pay $2,400 in attorneys’ fees and
direct expenses.
RESIGNATIONS

On December 7, 2021, the Supreme
Court of Texas accepted the resignation,
in lieu of discipline, of COURTNEY DAWN
CROFT BLANKENSHIP [#24101523], of
Fort Worth. At the time of Blankenship’s
resignation, there were four pending
matters against her alleging professional
misconduct. Blankenship neglected the
clients’ matters and failed to keep the
clients advised as to the status of their
cases. In one instance, Blankenship
withdrew from the case but failed to
notify the client that she had not
answered the discovery request served on
her. Blankenship also failed to safeguard
clients’ funds, failed to provide
accountings, and failed to refund the
unearned fees and the clients’ files.
Further, despite being notified of the
grievances, Blankenship failed to respond.
Blankenship allegedly violated Rules
1.01(b)(1), 1.03(a), l.03(b), l.l4(a),
l. l4(b), 1.15(b)(1), 1.15(d), and
8.04(a)(8).
On December 7, 2021, the Supreme
Court of Texas accepted the resignation,
in lieu of discipline, of KERRY MICHAEL
GUIDRY [#24045993], of Houston. At the
time of his resignation, there were three
pending disciplinary actions alleging that
Guidry failed to abide by his client’s
decisions whether to accept a settlement

offer; failed to keep his clients reasonably
informed about the status of their cases
and failed to promptly comply with his
clients’ reasonable requests for
information; failed to explain a matter to
the extent reasonably necessary to permit
the client to make informed decisions;
failed to hold funds and other property
belonging in whole or in part to clients
separate from the lawyer’s own property
in a separate trust or escrow account;
upon receipt of client’s funds, failed to
promptly notify the client, promptly
deliver the funds to the client, and failed
to promptly render a full accounting
upon request; and engaged in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misrepresentation.
Guidry allegedly violated Rules
1.02(a)(2), 1.03(a), 1.03(b), 1.14(a),
1.14(b), and 8.04(a)(3).
On December 7, 2021, the Supreme
Court of Texas accepted the resignation,
in lieu of discipline, of RICHARD LOUIS
REYNOLDS [#24043409], of Mandeville,
Louisiana. At the time of Reynolds’
resignation, the following disciplinary
case was pending against him. Reynolds
pleaded guilty in federal court on May
28, 2020, to misprision of a felony under
Title 18 Section 4 of the United States
Code. The United States alleged in the
information that between 2011 and
2017, in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Texas, Dallas
Division, Reynolds, having knowledge of
the actual commission of the felony of
conspiracy to commit honest services wire
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349,
did conceal the same by passing bribe
payments made by the president of a
technology company that puts cameras
on school buses to the superintendent of
Dallas County Schools, an agency
responsible for providing school bus
services to various school districts,
knowing that the purpose of passing the
money through Reynolds and his law
firm was to make it appear as if the
technology company was not paying a
public official with whom they were
doing business. Further, Reynolds did
not, as soon as possible, make known the
texasbar.com
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federal crime of conspiracy to commit
honest services wire fraud to some judge
or other person in civil authority under
the United States.
Reynolds violated Rule 8.04(a)(2).
SUSPENSIONS

On December 20, 2021, KIMBERLY
[#00793396], of Fresno,
accepted a two-year fully probated
suspension effective December 15,
2021. An investigatory panel of the
District 5 Grievance Committee found
that in representing a client, James
neglected the legal matter entrusted to
her, failed to keep her client reasonably
informed about the status of her legal
matter and failed to promptly comply
with reasonable requests for
information, and failed to withdraw
from representing her client when
James’ physical condition materially
impaired her fitness to represent her
client. Also, upon termination of
representation, James failed to refund
advance payments of fees that had not
been earned and failed to timely furnish
to the Office of Chief Disciplinary
Counsel a response or other
information as required by the Texas
Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.
James violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(a), 1.15(a)(2), 1.15(d), and
8.04(a)(8). She was ordered to pay
$5,000 in restitution.
MARIE JAMES

On November 11, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
agreed to a 12-month fully probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021.
The District 2 Grievance Committee
found that the complainant hired Mayo
to obtain royalty money for her family
that ExxonMobil is holding in escrow.
The court ordered that additional
possible heirs were to be served by
newspaper publication. Thereafter,
Mayo neglected the matter by failing to
publicize the required notice and failed
to respond to the complainant’s requests
for the status of the case.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1) and
1.03(a). He was ordered to pay $1,200
in attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.

On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 36-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first 12 months actively served
and the remainder probated. The
District 2 Grievance Committee found
that in representing a client, Mayo
failed to safeguard the client’s funds,
failed to provide an itemized accounting
or refund, and engaged in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misrepresentation.
Mayo violated Rules 1.14(a), 1.14(b),
and 8.04(a)(3). He was ordered to pay
$1,200 in attorneys’ fees and direct
expenses.
MAYO

On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 24-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first nine months actively
served and the remainder probated. The
MAYO

District 2 Grievance Committee found
that in representing four clients, Mayo
neglected the legal matters, failed to
communicate with the clients, failed to
safeguard clients’ funds, failed to
provide an itemized accounting or
refund of unearned fees, and failed to
submit a timely response to the
grievances.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.01(b)(2), 1.03(a), 1.14(a), 1.14(b),
1.15(d), and 8.04(a)(8). He was ordered
to pay $8,000 in restitution and $1,200
in attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
On November 23, 2021, JAMES
[#00794251], of
Whitehouse, received a 36-month
partially probated suspension effective
December 1, 2021, with the first 12
months actively served and the
remainder probated. The District 2
Grievance Committee found that in the
representation of two clients, Mayo
KEITH MAYO

MAYO
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neglected the legal matters, failed to
communicate with the clients, failed to
provide accountings or return unearned
fees, and failed to submit timely
responses to the grievances.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.01(b)(2), 1.03(b), 1.14(b), 1.15(d),
and 8.04(a)(8). He was ordered to pay a
total of $7,500 in restitution and
$1,200 in attorneys’ fees and direct
expenses.
On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 24-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first two months actively served
and the remainder probated. The District
2 Grievance Committee found that in
representing a client, Mayo neglected the
legal matter, failed to communicate with
the client, failed to return the unearned
fees, and failed to submit a timely
response to the grievance.
MAYO

Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(b), 1.15(d), and 8.04(a)(8). He
was ordered to pay $1,500 in restitution
and $1,200 in attorneys’ fees and direct
expenses.
On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 36-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first 12 months actively served
and the remainder probated. The
District 2 Grievance Committee found
that in representing two clients, Mayo
neglected the legal matters, failed to
communicate with the clients, failed to
provide an itemized accounting or
refund, and failed to submit a timely
response to the grievance.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(b), 1.14(b), 1.15(d), and
8.04(a)(8). He was ordered to pay
$1,200 in restitution and $1,200 in
attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
MAYO

On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 36-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first 12 months actively served
and the remainder probated. The
District 2 Grievance Committee found
that Mayo neglected the legal matter,
failed to provide the itemized statement,
failed to provide a refund of the
unearned fees, and failed to submit a
timely response to the grievance.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(a), 1.14(b), 1.15(d), and
8.04(a)(8). He was ordered to pay
$3,000 in restitution and $1,200 in
attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
MAYO

On November 23, 2021, JAMES KEITH
[#00794251], of Whitehouse,
received a 36-month partially probated
suspension effective December 1, 2021,
with the first 12 months actively served
and the remainder probated. The
District 2 Grievance Committee found
that in representing a client, Mayo
neglected the legal matter, failed to
communicate with the client, failed to
provide an itemized accounting or
refund, and failed to submit a timely
response to the grievance.
Mayo violated Rules 1.01(b)(1), 1.03(a),
1.15(d), and 8.04(a)(8). He was ordered
to pay $750 in restitution and $1,200
in attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
MAYO

On December 2, 2021, SUMMER AJA
[#24042610], of Houston,
accepted a 24-month judgment of
partially probated suspension effective
January 1, 2022, with the first month
actively suspended and the remainder
probated. An investigatory panel of the
District 4 Grievance Committee found
that in representing her client, McElroy
neglected the legal matter entrusted to
her; failed to explain a legal matter to
the extent reasonably necessary to
permit her client to make informed
decisions regarding the representation;
upon termination of representation,
failed to refund advance payments of
fees that had not been earned; and
failed to timely furnish to the Office of
Chief Disciplinary Counsel a response
MCELROY
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or other information as required by the
Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure.
McElroy violated Rules 1.01(b)(1),
1.03(b), 1.15(d), and 8.04(a)(8). She
was ordered to pay $900 in restitution
and $888 in attorneys’ fees and expenses.
On November 19, 2021, ROY LEE
[#24027770], of Amarillo,
received a three-year partially probated
suspension effective January 1, 2022,
with the first six months actively
suspended and the remainder probated.
An evidentiary panel of the District 1
Grievance Committee found that
Reeves failed to file a response to the
grievance.
Reeves violated Rule 8.04(a)(8). He
was ordered to pay $1,900 in attorneys’
fees and direct expenses.
REEVES

PUBLIC REPRIMANDS

On December 6, 2021, KATRINA
[#15402400],
of Schulenburg, accepted a public
reprimand. An investigatory panel of
the District 5 Grievance Committee
found that Elvig failed to hold funds
and other property belonging in whole
or in part to clients or third persons that
were in her possession in connection with
a representation separate from Elvig’s
own property because Elvig did not put
the property in an account designated as
a “trust” or “escrow” account maintained
in the state where the lawyer’s office is
situated, or elsewhere with the consent
of the client or third person.
Elvig violated Rule 1.14(a). She was
ordered to pay $25,000 in restitution
and $500 in attorneys’ fees and direct
expenses.
DANNHAUS PACKARD ELVIG

On December 7, 2021, PANTEA
POURABBAS [#24087032], of Dallas,
agreed to a judgment of public reprimand.
An investigatory panel of the District 6
Grievance Committee found that
Pourabbas accepted and continued
employment regarding a client’s civil legal
matter when Pourabbas knew or should
have known that the legal matter was
beyond Pourabbas’ experience and
competence as legal counsel. The
investigatory panel also found that in
texasbar.com/tbj

representing the client, Pourabbas
neglected the civil legal matter, failed to
communicate with the client, and
engaged in conduct involving
dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misrepresentation.
Pourabbas violated Rules 1.01(a)(1),
1.01(b)(1), 1.03(a), 1.03(b), and
8.04(a)(3). She was ordered to pay $500
in attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
On December 1, 2021, ALEX R. TANDY
[#19635000], of North Richland Hills,
agreed to a public reprimand. An
investigatory panel of the District 7
Grievance Committee found that in
representing the complainant, Tandy
neglected the legal matter entrusted to
him, failed to keep the complainant
reasonably informed about the status of
his case and failed to promptly comply
with reasonable requests for information
from the complainant. Furthermore,
Tandy’s attempted withdrawal from

representing the complainant had a
material adverse effect on the interests
of the complainant.
Tandy violated Rules 1.01(b)(1), 1.03(a),
and 1.15(b)(1). He was ordered to pay
$970 in attorneys’ fees and direct expenses.
PRIVATE REPRIMANDS

Listed here is a breakdown of Texas
Disciplinary Rules of Professional
Conduct violations for 10 attorneys,
with the number in parentheses
indicating the frequency of the
violation. Please note that an attorney
may be reprimanded for more than one
rule violation.
1.01(b)(1)—for neglecting a legal
matter entrusted to the lawyer (4).
1.02(a)(1)—A lawyer shall abide by a
clients’ decisions concerning the
objectives and general methods of
representation (1).
1.03(a)—for failing to keep a client
reasonably informed about the status of
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a matter and promptly comply with
reasonable requests for information (4).
1.03(b)—A lawyer shall explain a
matter to the extent reasonably necessary
to permit the client to make informed
decisions regarding the representation (5).
1.04(a)—A lawyer shall not engage
into an agreement for, charge, or collect
an illegal fee or unconscionable fee. A
fee is unconscionable if a competent
lawyer could not form a reasonable

belief that the fee is reasonable (1).
1.04(c)—When the lawyer has not
regularly represented the client, the basis
or rate of the fee shall be communicated
to the client, preferably in writing,
before or within a reasonable time after
commencing the representation (1).
1.04(f )(2)—A division or
arrangement for division of a fee
between lawyers who are not in the
same firm may be made only if the
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client consents in writing to the terms
of the arrangement prior to the time of
the association or referral proposed,
including (i) the identity of all lawyers
or law firms who will participate in the
fee-sharing arrangement, (ii) whether
fees will be divided based on the
proportion of services performed or by
lawyers agreeing to assume joint
responsibility for the representation, and
(iii) the share of the fee that each lawyer
or law firm will receive or, if the
division is based on the proportion of
services performed, the basis on which
the division will be made (1).
1.08(g)—A lawyer shall not make an
agreement prospectively limiting the
lawyer’s liability to a client for
malpractice unless permitted by law
and the client is independently
represented in making the agreement
or settle a claim for such liability with
an unrepresented client or former
client without first advising that person
in writing that independent
representation is appropriate in
connection therewith (1).
1.15(d)—Upon termination of
representation, a lawyer shall take steps
to the extent reasonably practicable to
protect a client’s interests, such as giving
reasonable notice to the client, allowing
time for employment of other counsel,
surrendering papers and property to
which the client is entitled, and
refunding any advance payments of fees
that have not been earned. The lawyer
may retain papers relating to the client
to the extent permitted by other law
only if such retention will not prejudice
the client in the subject matter of the
representation (4).
8.04(a)(8)—A lawyer shall not fail to
timely furnish to the Office of Chief
Disciplinary Counsel or a district
grievance committee a response or other
information as required by the Texas
Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, unless
he or she in good faith timely asserts a
privilege or other legal ground for
failure to do so (2).
8.04(a)(12)—A lawyer shall not violate
any other laws of this state relating to
the professional conduct of lawyers and
to the practice of law (1). TBJ
texasbar.com

